

MAINE STATE LEGISLATURE

The following document is provided by the
LAW AND LEGISLATIVE DIGITAL LIBRARY
at the Maine State Law and Legislative Reference Library
<http://legislature.maine.gov/lawlib>



Reproduced from electronic originals
(may include minor formatting differences from printed original)

LAWS
OF THE
STATE OF MAINE

AS PASSED BY THE

ONE HUNDRED AND TWENTY-EIGHTH LEGISLATURE

SECOND SPECIAL SESSION
June 19, 2018 to September 13, 2018

THE GENERAL EFFECTIVE DATE FOR
SECOND SPECIAL SESSION
NON-EMERGENCY LAWS IS
DECEMBER 13, 2018

ONE HUNDRED AND TWENTY-NINTH LEGISLATURE

FIRST REGULAR SESSION
December 5, 2018 to June 20, 2019

THE GENERAL EFFECTIVE DATE FOR
FIRST REGULAR SESSION
NON-EMERGENCY LAWS IS
SEPTEMBER 19, 2019

PUBLISHED BY THE REVISOR OF STATUTES
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE MAINE REVISED STATUTES ANNOTATED,
TITLE 3, SECTION 163-A, SUBSECTION 4.

Augusta, Maine
2019

receives scheduled passenger aircraft service and that had more than 20,000 passenger boardings in the previous year, may in a manner that is consistent with the airport's regulation of other prearranged for-hire transportation services including but not limited to taxicabs and limousines:

A. Regulate the parking and traffic flow of transportation network company drivers at the airport; and

B. Charge a transportation network company a reasonable fee for each trip to pick up a rider at the airport made by a driver for the transportation network company.

For the purposes of this subsection, the term "passenger boardings" means passenger boardings on an aircraft in service at the airport that generate revenue for an airline or the airport.

Emergency clause. In view of the emergency cited in the preamble, this legislation takes effect when approved.

Effective May 8, 2019.

CHAPTER 79

H.P. 542 - L.D. 737

An Act To Update Alcohol Taste-testing Requirements

Emergency preamble. Whereas, acts and resolves of the Legislature do not become effective until 90 days after adjournment unless enacted as emergencies; and

Whereas, this Act grants agency liquor stores and other off-premises retail licensees more flexibility to conduct taste-testing events for spirits, wine and malt liquor on their premises; and

Whereas, it is necessary that this Act take effect before the expiration of the 90-day period in order to permit off-premises retail licensees to conduct taste-testing events under the flexible provisions of the Act during the summer tourist season; and

Whereas, in the judgment of the Legislature, these facts create an emergency within the meaning of the Constitution of Maine and require the following legislation as immediately necessary for the preservation of the public peace, health and safety; now, therefore,

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. 28-A MRSA §460, as amended by PL 2015, c. 129, §§1 and 2, c. 184, §§1 to 3 and c. 329, Pt. D, §1 and affected by §4, is further amended to read:

§460. Agency liquor store taste testing of spirits

1. Taste testing on agency liquor store premises. Subject to the conditions in ~~subsection~~ subsections 2 and 2-A, the bureau may authorize an agency liquor store stocking at least ~~200~~ 100 different codes of ~~dis~~ distilled spirits products to conduct taste testing of ~~dis~~ distilled spirits on that licensee's premises. ~~An agency liquor store may request authority to conduct a taste testing using forms prescribed by the bureau. The request must indicate if a sales representative licensed under section 1502 will be pouring or providing samples, or both, for taste testing and verification that the sales representative has successfully completed an alcohol server education course approved by the commissioner. Any other consumption of alcoholic beverages liquor on an agency liquor store's premises is prohibited, except as permitted under section 1205 or 1207, 1208, 1402-A or 1504.~~

2. Conditions for conducting taste-testing events. The conditions under this subsection apply to taste-testing ~~activities~~ events under this section.

A. ~~Distilled spirits~~ Spirits may not be served to persons who have not yet attained 21 years of age.

B. A person may not be served more than a total of 1 1/2 ounces, in 1/2 ounce servings, of ~~distilled~~ distilled spirits having an alcohol content of 80 proof or less; ~~or and,~~ and, for ~~distilled~~ distilled spirits containing an alcohol content of greater than 80 proof, a person may not be served more than a total of 3/4 of an ounce in 1/4 ounce servings.

C. ~~Distilled spirits~~ Spirits must be dispensed using a standard measuring device.

~~D. Distilled spirits having an alcohol content of greater than 80 proof may not be offered for tasting at the same time as distilled spirits having an alcohol content of 80 proof or less.~~

E. A person may not be charged a fee for any ~~dis~~ distilled spirits served as part of a taste-testing activity event.

F. A person may not be served who is visibly intoxicated.

G. ~~Taste testing~~ A taste-testing event must be limited to a designated area.

H. ~~Taste testing~~ A taste-testing event must be conducted within the hours of retail sale established in this Title.

~~I. The agency liquor store must obtain the written permission of the bureau before conducting any taste testing activity.~~

J. The agency liquor store may conduct up to ~~3 tastings~~ 15 taste-testing events per month, including ~~tastings~~ taste-testing events conducted under sections 1205 and 1207. If the agency liquor store

complies with the applicable requirements of sections 1205 and 1207, the agency liquor store may offer wine and malt liquor for tasting at the same time as spirits.

K. ~~Taste testing~~ A taste-testing event is not allowed in any municipality where on-premises and off-premises sales are not allowed pursuant to chapter 5.

L. ~~The agency liquor store must notify the bureau of the date and time scheduled for all taste testing events. This notification must list the name of any sales representative licensed under section 1502 who will be pouring samples for taste testing.~~

M-1. ~~Distilled spirits~~ Spirits served at a taste testing ~~taste-testing event~~ must be provided by the agency liquor store or purchased, at the retail list price, by a licensed sales representative participating in the ~~taste testing~~ taste-testing event from existing stock available for purchase at the agency liquor store.

N. Prior to a taste-testing event, the agency liquor store shall post prominently at the entrance to the store a sign that announces the date and time of the event.

O. An agency liquor store, with prior approval from the bureau, may conduct an invitation-only taste-testing event at the agency liquor store's premises in place of or to coincide with a taste-testing event that is open to the public. A taste-testing event that is exclusively invitation only is not subject to the posting requirement in paragraph N.

2-A. Written permission from the bureau. An agency liquor store must obtain the written permission of the bureau before conducting a taste-testing event using the following procedure.

A. The agency liquor store shall request authority to conduct a taste-testing event using forms prescribed by the bureau.

B. The agency liquor store may submit a separate form for each taste-testing event or a single form listing some or all of the taste-testing events the agency liquor store requests authority to conduct in a calendar month under this section, section 1205 and section 1207.

C. The request must indicate the date and time for each taste-testing event and the liquor product or products that will be offered at each event.

D. The request must indicate whether a sales representative licensed under section 1502 will be pouring or providing samples, or both, for each taste-testing event and include verification that the sales representative has successfully completed an

alcohol server education course approved by the bureau.

3. **Rules.** The bureau may adopt rules to implement this section. Rules adopted pursuant to this subsection are routine technical rules as defined in Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter 2-A.

Sec. 2. 28-A MRSA §1205, as amended by PL 2015, c. 129, §§4 and 5, is further amended to read:

§1205. Taste testing of wine

1. **Taste testing on off-premises retail licensee's premises.** Subject to the conditions in ~~subsection~~ subsections 2 and 2-A, the bureau may authorize an ~~off-premise~~ off-premises retail licensee stocking at least ~~125~~ 100 different wine labels to conduct taste ~~testings~~ testing of wine on that licensee's premises. ~~An off-premise retail licensee may request authority to conduct a taste testing using forms prescribed by the bureau. The request must indicate if a sales representative licensed under section 1502 will be pouring samples for taste testing and verification that the sales representative has successfully completed an alcohol server education course approved by the commissioner.~~ Any other consumption of alcoholic beverages liquor on an ~~off-premise~~ off-premises retail licensee's premises is prohibited, except as permitted under section 460, 1207, 1208, 1402-A or 1504.

2. **Conditions for conducting taste-testing events.** The following conditions apply to taste-testing ~~activities~~ events under this section:

A. Wine may not be served to persons who have not yet attained the age of 21 years;

B. A person may not be served more than a total of 5 ounces of wine having an alcohol content of 14% or less; ~~or and~~, for wine having an alcohol content greater than 14%, a person may not be served more than a total of 3 ounces of wine;

C. A person may not be charged a fee for any wine served as part of a taste-testing ~~activity~~ event;

D. A person may not be served who is visibly intoxicated;

E. ~~Taste testing~~ A taste-testing event must be limited to a designated area;

F. ~~Taste testing~~ A taste-testing event must be conducted within the hours of retail sale established in this Title;

G. ~~The retail licensee must obtain the written permission of the bureau before conducting any taste testing activity;~~

H. The retail licensee may conduct up to ~~3 tastings~~ 15 taste-testing events per month, including ~~tastings~~ taste-testing events conducted under sections 460 and 1207. If the retail licensee complies

with the applicable requirements of sections 460 and 1207, the retail licensee may offer spirits and malt liquor for tasting at the same time as wine;

I. ~~Taste testing~~ A taste-testing event is not allowed in any municipality where on-premises and off-premises sales are not allowed pursuant to chapter 5;

J. ~~The retail licensee must notify the bureau of the date and time scheduled for all taste testing events. This notification must list the name of any sales representative licensed under section 1502 who will be pouring samples for taste testing;~~

K. The retail licensee must purchase all wine served at a ~~taste testing~~ taste-testing event from a wholesale licensee;

L. Prior to a taste-testing event, the retail licensee shall post prominently at the entrance to the store a sign that announces the date and time of the event; and

M. An ~~off-premise~~ off-premises retail licensee, with prior approval from the bureau, may conduct an invitation-only taste-testing event at the ~~off-premise~~ off-premises retail licensee's premises in place of or to coincide with a taste-testing event that is open to the public. A taste-testing event that is exclusively invitation only is not subject to the posting requirement in paragraph L.

2-A. Written permission from the bureau. An off-premises retail licensee must obtain the written permission of the bureau before conducting a taste-testing event using the following procedure.

A. The retail licensee shall request authority to conduct a taste-testing event using forms prescribed by the bureau.

B. The retail licensee may submit a separate form for each taste-testing event or a single form listing some or all of the taste-testing events the retail licensee requests authority to conduct in a calendar month under this section, section 460 and section 1207.

C. The request must indicate the date and time for each taste-testing event and the liquor product or products that will be offered at each event.

D. The request must indicate whether a sales representative licensed under section 1502 will be pouring or providing samples, or both, for each taste-testing event and include verification that the sales representative has successfully completed an alcohol server education course approved by the bureau.

3. Rules. The bureau may adopt rules to implement this section. Rules adopted pursuant to this sub-

section are routine technical rules as defined in Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter 2-A.

Sec. 3. 28-A MRSA §1207, as amended by PL 2015, c. 129, §§6 and 7, is further amended to read:

§1207. Taste testing of malt liquor

1. Taste testing on off-premises retail licensee's premises. Subject to the conditions in ~~subsection~~ subsections 2 and 2-A, the bureau may authorize an ~~off-premise~~ off-premises retail licensee stocking at least 100 different labels of malt liquor to conduct taste testing of malt liquor on that licensee's premises. ~~An off-premise retail licensee may request authority to conduct a taste testing using forms prescribed by the bureau. The request must indicate if a sales representative licensed under section 1502 will be pouring samples for taste testing and verification that the sales representative has successfully completed an alcohol server education course approved by the commissioner. Any other consumption of alcoholic beverages liquor on an off-premise off-premises retail licensee's premises is prohibited, except as permitted under section 460 or, 1205, 1208, 1402-A or 1504.~~

2. Conditions for conducting taste-testing events. The conditions under this subsection apply to taste-testing ~~activities~~ events under this section.

A. Malt liquor may not be served to persons who have not yet attained 21 years of age.

B. A person may not be served more than a total of 12 ounces of malt liquor having an alcohol content of 6% or less; for malt liquor having an alcohol content greater than 6% but less than 12%, a person may not be served more than a total of 6 ounces; ~~or and~~, for malt liquor having an alcohol content of 12% or greater, a person may not be served more than a total of 3 ounces.

C. A person may not be charged a fee for any malt liquor served as part of a taste-testing ~~activity~~ event.

D. A person may not be served who is visibly intoxicated.

E. ~~Taste testing~~ A taste-testing event must be limited to a designated area.

F. ~~Taste testing~~ A taste-testing event must be conducted within the hours of retail sale established in this Title.

G. ~~The retail licensee must obtain the written permission of the bureau before conducting any taste testing activity.~~

H. The retail licensee may conduct up to ~~3 tastings~~ 15 taste-testing events per month, including ~~tastings~~ taste-testing events conducted under section 460 or 1205. If the retail licensee complies with the applicable requirements of sections 460

and 1205, the retail licensee may offer spirits and wine for tasting at the same time as malt liquor.

I. ~~Taste testing~~ A taste-testing event is not allowed in any municipality where on-premises and off-premises sales are not allowed pursuant to chapter 5.

J. ~~The retail licensee must notify the bureau of the date and time scheduled for all taste-testing events. This notification must list the name of any sales representative licensed under section 1502 who will be pouring samples for taste testing.~~

K. The retail licensee must purchase all malt liquor served at a ~~taste testing~~ taste-testing event from a wholesale licensee.

L. Prior to a taste-testing event, the retail licensee shall post prominently at the entrance to the store a sign that announces the date and time of the event.

M. An ~~off-premise~~ off-premises retail licensee, with prior approval from the bureau, may conduct an invitation-only taste-testing event at the ~~off-premise~~ off-premises retail licensee's premises in place of or to coincide with a taste-testing event that is open to the public. A taste-testing event that is exclusively invitation only is not subject to the posting requirement in paragraph L.

2-A. Written permission from the bureau. An ~~off-premises~~ retail licensee must obtain the written permission of the bureau before conducting a taste-testing event using the following procedure.

A. The retail licensee shall request authority to conduct a taste-testing event using forms prescribed by the bureau.

B. The retail licensee may submit a separate form for each taste-testing event or a single form listing some or all of the taste-testing events the retail licensee requests authority to conduct in a calendar month under this section, section 460 and section 1205.

C. The request must indicate the date and time for each taste-testing event and the liquor product or products that will be offered at each event.

D. The request must indicate whether a sales representative licensed under section 1502 will be pouring or providing samples, or both, for each taste-testing event and include verification that the sales representative has successfully completed an alcohol server education course approved by the bureau.

3. Rules. The bureau may adopt rules to implement this section. Rules adopted pursuant to this section are routine technical rules as defined in Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter 2-A.

Emergency clause. In view of the emergency cited in the preamble, this legislation takes effect when approved.

Effective May 8, 2019.

CHAPTER 80

H.P. 829 - L.D. 1140

An Act To Improve the Investigation and Prosecution of Sexual Assault Cases

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. 25 MRSA c. 411 is enacted to read:

CHAPTER 411

SUBMISSION OF SEXUAL ASSAULT CASES FOR REVIEW FOR PROSECUTION

§3851. Submission of sexual assault cases for review for prosecution

A law enforcement agency in possession of a complaint for an alleged sexual assault under Title 17-A, chapter 11 shall within 60 days of receiving the complaint inform the appropriate prosecutor of any evidence and submit the complaint for review and a decision by the prosecutor regarding further investigation and commencement of prosecution. Failure of a law enforcement agency to inform the appropriate prosecutor of any evidence and submit a complaint to the appropriate prosecutor within 60 days as required by this section does not affect the validity of a later submission and prosecution.

See title page for effective date.

CHAPTER 81

H.P. 425 - L.D. 581

An Act To Direct Electric Utilities To Provide Comparative Usage Data on Customer Billing Statements

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. 35-A MRSA §3106 is enacted to read:

§3106. Comparative usage data on billing statements

1. Definitions. For the purposes of this section, the following terms have the following meanings.

A. "Comparative usage data" means data regarding a customer's energy usage for the previous 24